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EDWARDS POTTINGER LLC  
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Telephone: 954-524-2820 
Facsimile:  954-524-2822 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
Joan Spencer-Ruper 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

JOAN SPENCER-RUPER, 
individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff,  
 

v.  
 
MY MIXTAPEZ, INC. D/B/A MY 
MIXTAPEZ, DUENAS MOBILE 
APPLICATIONS LLC D/B/A 
VUZIQ, AND D/B/A MY 
MIXTAPEZ, JUAN CARLOS 
DUEÑAS, RICKY DUEÑAS, AND 
DANNY DUEÑAS, 
 

Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff Joan Spencer-Ruper, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, brings this Class Action Complaint to secure redress for violations of the 

Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA), 47 U.S.C. § 227, resulting from 

repeated text messages made by or behalf of Defendants to the cellular telephones of 

Plaintiff and others using an automatic telephone dialing system.  Plaintiff alleges as 
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follows upon personal knowledge as to herself and her own acts and experiences, and, 

as to all other matters, upon information and belief.   

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Joan Spencer-Ruper is a citizen of the State of California and 

resides in Orange County, California. 

2. Defendant My Mixtapez, Inc. d/b/a My Mixtapez, is a Florida 

corporation and has its principal place of business at 30063 SW 157th Place, 

Homestead, FL 33033. 

3. Defendant Duenas Mobile Applications LLC d/b/a MyMixTapez and 

d/b/a VUZIQ, is a Florida limited liability and has its principal office at 30063 SW 

157th Place, Homestead, FL 33033. 

4. My Mixtapez, Inc., is a subsidiary of DMA. 

5. Defendant Juan Carlos Dueñas is Co-Founder and CEO of My Mixtapez, 

Inc., and, on information and belief, resides at 30063 SW 157th Place, Homestead, FL 

33033. 

6. He is CEO of Duenas Mobile Applications LLC. 

7. Defendant Ricky Dueñas is Co-Founder and CFO of My Mixtapez, Inc., 

and, on information and belief, resides at 30063 SW 157th Place, Homestead, FL 

33033. 

8. He is COO of Duenas Mobile Applications LLC. 

9. Defendant Danny Dueñas is Co-Founder and VP of My Mixtapez, Inc., 

and, on information and belief, resides at 30063 SW 157th Place, Homestead, FL 

33033. 

10. He is CFO of Duenas Mobile Applications LLC, as well as its registered 

agent. 

11. The Dueñas Defendants are brothers and, on information and belief, 

control or are involved in the marketing activities of their My Mixtapez, Inc.  
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

12. This Court has federal question subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and 47 U.S.C. § 227.  

13. Venue in this judicial district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), 

because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims in this 

case occurred in this District. 

14. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they 

conduct business in this state and have committed tortious acts within this state related 

to the sending of unlawful text messages into this state. 

15. Neither My Mixtapez, Inc., nor Duenas Mobile Applications LLC 

registered with California Secretary of State to transact business in California; 

however, the website https://mymixtapez.com/ (last visited Mar. 18, 2020), lists the 

following locations above the email address and telephone number for “My 

Mixtapez”:  “Atlanta • Los Angeles • Miami • Goiânia.” 

THE TELEPHONE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT OF 1991 

16. The TCPA, passed into law in 1991, regulates and restricts the use of an 

automatic telephone dialing system (ATDS). 

17. “[T]he term automatic telephone dialing system means equipment which 

has the capacity—(1) to store numbers to be called or (2) to produce numbers to be 

called, using a random or sequential number generator—and to dial such numbers.”  

Marks v. Crunch San Diego, LLC, 904 F.3d 1041, 1045 (9th Cir. 2018), cert. 

dismissed, 139 S. Ct. 1289 (2019). 

18. The TCPA protects consumers from unwanted text messages and calls 

and that are made with an ATDS.  

19. Specifically, 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A) provides:  

 
(1) Prohibitions  It shall be unlawful for any person within the United 

States, or any person outside the United States if the recipient is 
within the United States—  
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(A) to make any call (other than a call made for emergency purposes 

or made with the prior express consent of the called party) using 
any automatic telephone dialing system . . . (iii) to any telephone 
number assigned to a paging service, cellular telephone service, 
specialized mobile radio service, or other radio common carrier 
service, or any service for which the called party is charged for the 
call.  

 
20. The Federal Communications Commission (FCC), which is empowered 

to issue rules and regulations implementing the TCPA, has issued rulings and clarified 

that in order to obtain an individual’s consent, a clear, unambiguous, and conspicuous 

written disclosure must be provided to the individual.  See 2012 FCC Order, 27 FCC 

Rcd. at 1839 (“requiring prior written consent will better protect consumer privacy 

because such consent requires conspicuous action by the consumer—providing 

permission in writing—to authorize autodialed or prerecorded telemarketing calls”). 

21. Further, the FCC has issued rulings and clarified that consumers are 

entitled to the same consent-based protections for text messages as they are for calls to 

wireless numbers.  See Satterfield v. Simon & Schuster, Inc., 569 F.3d 946, 952 (9th 

Cir. 2009) (FCC has determined that text message falls within meaning of “to make 

any call” in 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)); Toney v. Quality Res., Inc., 75 F. Supp. 3d 

727, 734 (N.D. Ill. 2014) (noting defendant bears burden of showing that it obtained 

plaintiff’s prior express consent before sending her text message). 

22. According to findings by the FCC, such calls are prohibited because, as 

Congress found, automated or prerecorded telephone calls are a greater nuisance and 

invasion of privacy than live solicitation calls, and such calls can be costly and 

inconvenient.  The FCC also recognized that wireless customers are charged for 

incoming calls whether they pay in advance or after the minutes are used. See Rules 

and Regulations Implementing the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, CG 

Docket No. 02-278, Report and Order, 18 FCC Rcd 14014 (2003). 
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23. The FCC has “repeatedly acknowledged the existence of vicarious 

liability under the TCPA.”  See Gomez v. Campbell-Ewald Co., 768 F.3d 871, 878 

(9th Cir. 2014) (citing In re Joint Petition Filed by Dish Network, LCC, 28 FCC. Rcd. 

6574, 6574 (2013)).  Principles of apparent authority and ratification may also provide 

a basis for vicarious seller liability for violations of section 227(b).  See Thomas v. 

Taco Bell Corp., 582 F. App’x 678 (9th Cir. 2014) (citing 28 F.C.C. Rcd. at 6590 

n.124).  A ratification occurs when the benefits of the purportedly unauthorized acts 

are accepted with knowledge of material facts demonstrating the intent to adopt the 

unauthorized arrangement.  Kristensen v. Credit Payment Servs., Inc., 879 F.3d 1010, 

1014 (9th Cir. 2018). 

24. The TCPA provides for statutory damages of $500 to $1,500 per 

violation of Section 227(b) of the TCPA and of the implementing regulation, 47 

C.F.R. § 64.1200.  See 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3). 

25. Specifically, the TCPA’s damages provision states, 

(3)  Private right of action A person or entity may, if otherwise permitted 
by the laws or rules of court of a State, bring in an appropriate court of that 
State—  
 

(A)  an action based on a violation of this subsection or the 
regulations prescribed under this subsection to enjoin such violation, 
  
(B)  an action to recover for actual monetary loss from such a 
violation, or to receive $500 in damages for each such violation, 
whichever is greater, or  

 
(C) both such actions.  

 
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(A)-(C) (second emphasis added).   

26. If the Court finds that Defendants “willfully or knowingly” violated 

Section 227(b) “or the regulations prescribed under this subsection,” the Court may 

increase the award amount up to threefold, i.e., $1,500 per violation of the statute and 

per violation of the regulation.  47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3); see Lary v. Trinity Physician 
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Fin. & Ins. Servs., 780 F.3d 1101, 1106 (11th Cir. 2015) (holding that district court 

erred in limiting damages to one violation per call; “the statute allows a person to 

recover ‘$500 in damages for each’ ‘violation of this subsection’”; “Section 227(b)(1) 

has no language limiting the recovery to $500 per ‘call’ or ‘fax’”). 

27. A “violation of the TCPA is a concrete, de facto injury.” Van Patten v. 

Vertical Fitness Group, LLC, 847 F.3d 1037 (9th Cir. 2017).  

FACTS 

28. Defendants, directly or through other persons acting on their behalf, 

conspired to, agreed to, contributed to, assisted with, or otherwise caused the wrongful 

acts and omissions, including the dissemination of the text messages that are the 

subject matter of this Complaint. 

29. Plaintiff is a “person” as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153(39).  

30. Defendants are each a “person” as defined by 47 U.S.C. § 153(39).  

31. Defendants own, manage, run, or operate “MyMixtapez,” which is a hip-

hop mixtape app for Android, iPhone, and Windows operating systems. 

32. The MyMixtapez app is described in detail at https://mymixtapez.com/ 

(last visited Mar. 18, 2020). 

33. A subpage, attached in full as Exhibit A, and quoted in part below 

summarizes what the app provides and notes that a Premium Membership is available 

for purchase: 

 

THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF USE (“Terms”) 
govern the use of the website –  mymixtapez.com (“Website”) – and the 
My Mixtapez Music & Mixtapez mobile application currently available 
on Apple iTunes, Google Play and provided by Microsoft on its store 
(“Mobile Application”) brought to you (“you” or “your”) by Duenas 
Mobile Applications LLC d/b/a VUZIQ (“My Mixtapez” or “we" or “ 
us” or “our”), and any content, material, features or functionality made 
available by or through this Website and Mobile Application, including 
any subdomains thereof. The Website and Mobile Application is made 
available to you by Duenas Mobile Applications LLC, or one of its 
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subsidiaries, each having adopted the following Terms. My Mixtapez 
provides downloadable software for the purpose of streaming and 
downloading music via an application for mobile and wireless devices; 
and downloadable software in the nature of a mobile application for 
streaming and downloading music mixtapes (“My Mixtapez Service” or 
“Service”). * 
 

* * * 
13.  Premium Membership; Payment Transactions. 
My Mixtapez offers a variation of the My Mixtapez Service free of 
charge for all users. However, you have the option to purchase a 
premium membership (Premium Membership”) for use pursuant to the 
My Mixtapez Service. Premium Membership allows you the ability to 
use the My Mixtapez Service without advertisements, and may include 
other benefits that we have the right to amend from time-to-time without 
changing these Terms. Premium Membership also gives you the 
opportunity to try new features and receive exclusive offers from the My 
Mixtapez store. By purchasing the Premium Membership (or anything 
else directly from My Mixtapez) you warrant and represent the 
following: 
 

1. any and all credit card information submitted by you is complete, 
true and accurate as it relates to you; 

2. any and all charges incurred by you will be honored by your credit 
card company; and 

3. any and all charges incurred by you will be paid by you at the 
posted price, including any applicable taxes. 

 
* * * 

* The Service is memorialized and incorporated in and by federally 
recognized registered trademarks owned by Duenas Mobile Applications 
LLC (See Registration Nos. 4648593 (“My Mixtapez”); 4648615 (a 
design mark for “My Mixtapez”); and 4731673 (a design mark for “My 
Mixtapez”)). My Mixtapez has additional trademark applications with 
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office that are currently pending as of the 
date of the latest update of these Terms. 
 

https://mymixtapez.com/about/terms-service (last visited Mar. 18, 2020). 
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34. In the past four years, using an ATDS, Defendants or someone acting on 

their behalf sent Plaintiff many text messages advertising the My Mixtapez app or 

service, in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 

35. Plaintiff received those text messages on her cellular telephone number 

ending 7874, on February 2, 6, and 7, 2020, as well as prior to February 2020.  A 

screenshot from Plaintiff’s cell phone showing those three February 2020 texts is 

attached as Exhibit B. 

36. Defendants’ text messages, (a) annoyed, disturbed, and harassed Plaintiff, 

(b) intruded upon her solitude and seclusion, (c) invaded her privacy, (d) wasted her 

time, and (e) diminished her cellular telephone’s battery. 

37. Not only did the receipt of the text messages distract Plaintiff away from 

her personal activities, she was forced to spend time investigating the source of the 

text messages and who sent them to her. 

38. Plaintiff never gave Defendants any consent to send her text messages, 

much less prior express consent. 

39. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ ATDS has the capacity to store 

or produce telephone numbers to be called, using a random or sequential number 

generator.  

40. Upon information and belief, Defendants’ ATDS has the capacity to store 

numbers and to dial numbers without human intervention. 

41. Upon information and belief, Defendants used a combination of hardware 

and software systems which have the capacity to generate or store random or 

sequential numbers or to dial sequentially or randomly in an automated fashion 

without human intervention. 

42. The impersonal and generic nature of Defendants’ text messages further 

demonstrates that Defendants used an ATDS to send them. 

43. The text messages made to Plaintiff and the Class Members were for the 

purpose of marketing, advertising, and promoting Defendants’ app or services.  
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44. These text messages were not for emergency purposes as defined by 47 

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(i).  

45. Plaintiff did not provide Defendants or their agents prior express consent 

to receive text message, to her cellular telephone, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1). 

46. The unsolicited text messages by Defendants or their agents violated 47 

U.S.C. § 227(b)(1). 

47. Defendants were aware that they were sending text messages to Plaintiff 

and other persons without their prior express consent. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

48. Plaintiff brings this class action under Rule 23(a), (b)(2), and (b)(3) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of herself and of a similarly situated 

“Class” or “Class Members” defined as: 

All persons within the United States who, within the four years prior to the 
filing of this Complaint, were sent text messages by Defendants or anyone 
on Defendants’ behalf, to said person’s cellular telephone number, using the 
same equipment used to send text messages to Plaintiff.   
 

49. Excluded from the Class are Defendants, and any subsidiary or affiliate 

of Defendants, and the directors, officers and employees of Defendants or their 

subsidiaries or affiliates, and members of the federal judiciary. 

50. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class 

action against Defendants pursuant to Rule 23 because there is a well-defined 

community of interest in the litigation and the proposed Class is easily ascertainable. 

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the Class definition if discovery and further 

investigation reveal that any Class should be expanded or otherwise modified. 

51. Numerosity: At this time, Plaintiff does not know the exact number of 

Class Members, but among other things, given the nature of the claims and that 

Defendants’ conduct consisted of a standardized text messages to cellular telephone 

numbers, Plaintiff believes there are greater than 40 Class Members.  Plaintiff believes 
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that the Class is so numerous that joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable 

and the disposition of their claims in a class action rather than incremental individual 

actions will benefit the Parties and the Court by eliminating the possibility of 

inconsistent or varying adjudications of individual actions. 

52. Upon information and belief, a more precise Class size and the identities 

of the individual member thereof are ascertainable through Defendants’ records, 

including, but not limited to Defendants’ text message and marketing records. 

53. Members of the Class may additionally or alternatively be notified of the 

pendency of this action by techniques and forms commonly used in class actions, such 

as by published notice, e-mail notice, website notice, fax notice, first class mail, or 

combinations thereof, or by other methods suitable to this class and deemed necessary 

or appropriate by the Court. 

54. Existence and Predominance of Common Questions of Fact and Law: 

There is a well-defined community of common questions of fact and law affecting the 

Plaintiff and members of the Class. Common questions of law or fact exist as to all 

members of the Class and predominate over the questions affecting individual Class 

Members. These common legal or factual questions include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

a. Whether, within the four years prior to the filing of this Complaint, 

Defendants or their agents sent a text message (other than a message made for 

emergency purposes or made with the prior express consent of the called party) 

to a Class Member’s cellular telephone number; 

b. Whether the dialing system used to send the text messages is an 

ATDS; 

c. Whether any Defendant is vicariously liable for the TCPA 

violations committed by others involved in the text-messaging campaigns; 

d. Whether any Defendant ratified the TCPA violations committed 

by others involved in the text-messaging campaigns; 

Case 8:20-cv-00619   Document 1   Filed 03/30/20   Page 10 of 18   Page ID #:10



 

11 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

e. How Defendants obtained the cellular telephone numbers of 

Plaintiff and the Class; 

f. Whether sending the text messages to Plaintiff and the Class 

violates the TCPA or its regulations, 47 CFR § 64.1200; 

g. Whether Defendants willfully or knowingly violated the TCPA or 

its regulations, 47 CFR § 64.1200; 

h. Whether Plaintiff and the members of the Class are entitled to 

statutory damages, treble statutory damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs for 

Defendants’ acts and conduct; and 

i. Whether Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to a 

permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from continuing to engage in their 

unlawful conduct; and 

55. One or more questions or issues of law or fact regarding Defendants’ 

liability are common to all Class Members and predominate over any individual issues 

that may exist and may serve as a basis for class certification under Rule 23(c)(4). 

56. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of 

the Class. The claims of the Plaintiff and members of the Class are based on the same 

legal theories and arise from the same course of conduct that violates the TCPA. 

57. Plaintiff and members of the Class each received at least one text 

message, advertising the My Mixtapez app, which Defendants sent or caused to be 

placed to Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ cellular telephone numbers. 

58. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff is an adequate representative of 

the Class because her interests do not conflict with the interests of the members of the 

Class.  Plaintiff will fairly, adequately and vigorously represent and protect the 

interests of the members of the Class and has no interests antagonistic to the members 

of the Class.  Plaintiff has retained counsel competent and experienced in litigation in 

the federal courts, TCPA litigation and class action litigation. 
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59. Superiority:  A class action is the superior method for adjudicating this 

controversy fairly and efficiently.  While the aggregate damages which may be 

awarded to the members of the Class are likely to be substantial, the damages suffered 

by individual members of the Class are relatively small.  As a result, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation makes it economically infeasible and procedurally 

impracticable for each member of the Class to individually seek redress for the 

wrongs done. Plaintiff does not know of any other litigation concerning this 

controversy already commenced against Defendants by any member of the Class.  

60. Class-Wide Injunctive Relief and Rule 23(b)(2): Moreover, as an 

alternative to or in addition to certification of the Class under Rule 23(b)(3), class 

certification is warranted under Rule 23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted on 

grounds generally applicable to Plaintiff and the Class, thereby making appropriate 

final injunctive relief with respect to Plaintiff and Class Members as a whole.  

Plaintiff seeks injunctive relief on behalf of Class Members on grounds generally 

applicable to the entire Class in order to enjoin and prevent Defendants’ ongoing 

violations of the TCPA, and to order Defendants to provide notice to them of their 

rights under the TCPA to statutory damages and to be free from unwanted calls. 

61. Defendants–or third parties directed by Defendants–used equipment 

having the capacity to randomly or sequentially generate telephone numbers and to 

dial such numbers without human intervention to send non-emergency telephone text 

messages to the cellular telephones of Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class 

defined above. 

62. These text messages were made without regard to whether Defendants 

had first obtained express permission from the recipients to send the communications.  

In fact, Defendants did not have prior express consent to send text messages to the 

cellular phones of Plaintiff and the other members of the putative Class when the text 

messages were sent. 
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63. Defendants have therefore violated Section 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) of the 

TCPA. 

64. As a result of Defendant’s negligent violations of Section 227, Plaintiff 

and the Class are entitled to an award of $500.00 in statutory damages, for each 

violation, pursuant to Section 227(b)(3)(B).  

65. At all relevant times, Defendants knew or should have known that their 

conduct as alleged herein violated the TCPA. 

66. Defendants knew that they did not have prior express consent to send text 

messages to Plaintiff and the Class, and they knew or should have known that their 

conduct was a violation of the TCPA; therefore, the Court should treble the amount of 

statutory damages available to Plaintiff and the Class pursuant to Section 

227(b)(3)(C).  

67. Likewise, since Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff and 

Class Members did not give prior express consent to receive the text messages, 

Plaintiff and the Class should be awarded $1,500.00 in statutory damages, for each 

violation, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(C). 

68. Plaintiff and the Class are also entitled to and seek injunctive relief 

prohibiting such conduct in the future.  

COUNT I 
VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEPHONE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

47 U.S.C. § 227(b) 
 

69. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in all of 

the above paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully stated herein.  

70. It is a violation of the TCPA to make “any call (other than a call made for 

emergency purposes or made with the prior express consent of the called party) using 

any automatic telephone dialing system . . . to any telephone number assigned to a . . . 

cellular telephone service.” 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(A)(iii). 
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71. Automatic telephone dialing system refers to “equipment which has the 

capacity---(A) to store or produce telephone numbers to be called, using a random or 

sequential number generator; and (B) to dial such numbers.” 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(1). 

72. Defendants – or third parties directed by Defendants – used equipment 

having the capacity to randomly or sequentially generate telephone numbers and to 

dial such numbers without human intervention to make non-emergency telephone 

calls to the cellular telephones of Plaintiff and the other members of the Class defined 

above. 

73. These calls were made without regard to whether Defendants had first 

obtained express permission from the called party to make such calls. In fact, 

Defendants did not have prior express consent to call the cellular phones of Plaintiff 

and the other members of the putative Class when its calls were made. 

74. Defendants have, therefore, violated Section 227(b)(1)(A)(iii) of the 

TCPA by using an automatic telephone dialing system to make non-emergency 

telephone calls to the cellular phones of Plaintiff and the other members of the 

putative Class without their prior express written consent. 

75. Furthermore, it is a violation of the TCPA “to initiate any telephone call 

to any residential telephone line using an artificial or prerecorded voice to deliver a 

message without the prior consent of the called party, unless the call is initiated for 

emergency purposes.”  47 U.S.C. 227(b)(1)(B). 

76. These calls were made without regard to whether Defendants had first 

obtained express permission from the called party to make such calls. In fact, 

Defendants did not have prior express consent to call any of these cellular phones. 

77. Defendants have, therefore, violated Section 227(b)(2) of the TCPA by 

initiating telephone class while using an artificial or prerecorded voice to deliver non-

emergency telephone calls to the cellular phones of Plaintiff and the other members of 

the putative Class without their prior express written consent. 
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78. The foregoing acts and omissions of Defendants constitute numerous and 

multiple violations of the TCPA, including but not limited to each of the above-cited 

provisions of Section 227.  

79. As a result of Defendants’ negligent violations of Section 227, Plaintiff 

and the Class are entitled to an award of $500.00 in statutory damages, for each 

violation, pursuant to Section 227(b)(3)(B).  

80. At all relevant times, Defendants knew or should have known that its 

conduct as alleged herein violated the TCPA. 

81. Defendants knew that it did not have prior express consent to make these 

calls and knew or should have known that its conduct was a violation of the TCPA. 

82. Because Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff and Class 

Members did not give prior express consent to receive autodialed calls, the Court 

should treble the amount of statutory damages available to Plaintiff and members of 

the Putative Class pursuant to Section 227(b)(3)(C).  

83. Likewise, since Defendants knew or should have known that Plaintiff and 

Class Members did not give prior express consent to receive calls using artificial or 

prerecorded voice, the Court should treble the amount of statutory damages available 

to Plaintiff and members of the Putative Class pursuant to Section 227(b)(3). 

84. As a result of Defendants knowing or willful violations of Section § 

227(b), Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award of $1,500.00 in statutory 

damages, for each violation, pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(C). 

85. Plaintiff and the Class are also entitled to and seek injunctive relief 

prohibiting such conduct in the future.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests the Court grant Plaintiff and the Class 

Members relief against Defendants, as set forth in the Prayer for Relief below. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in her favor and 

in favor of the Class, against Defendants, jointly and severally, for: 

a. certify this action as a class action and appoint Plaintiff as Class 

Representative; 

b. appoint the undersigned counsel as Class Counsel; 

c. award damages of $500 per violation per text message pursuant to 47 

U.S.C. § 227(a)(3)(B); 

d. award enhanced damages of up to $1,500 per violation per text message 

pursuant to 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(3); 

e. enjoin Defendants and their contractors, agents, and employees from 

continuing to send TCPA-violating text messages pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 

§ 227(a)(3)(A); 

f. award Class Counsel reasonable attorneys’ fees and all expenses of this 

action and require Defendants to pay the costs and expenses of class 

notice and claim administration;  

g. award Plaintiff an incentive award for her efforts on behalf of, and 

benefits conferred to, the Class and other relevant factors;  

h. award Plaintiff prejudgment interest and costs; and  

i. grant Plaintiff all other relief deemed just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury. 
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DOCUMENT PRESERVATION DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands that Defendants take affirmative steps to preserve all text 

message logs, spreadsheets, invoices, records, lists, electronic databases, or other 

itemization of telephone numbers associated with Defendants and the communication 

or transmittal of advertisements as alleged herein.   

  
DATED:  March 30, 2020 
 

EDWARDS POTTINGER LLC 
 
 

 By: /s/ Seth M. Lehrman  
   Seth M. Lehrman 
 Attorney for Plaintiff  

Joan Spencer-Ruper 
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Seth M. Lehrman (178303) 
seth@epllc.com 
EDWARDS POTTINGER LLC  
425 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 2 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
Telephone: 954-524-2820 
Facsimile:  954-524-2822 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
Joan Spencer-Ruper 

 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 

JOAN SPENCER-RUPER, 
individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 
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v.  
 
MY MIXTAPEZ, INC. D/B/A MY 
MIXTAPEZ, DUENAS MOBILE 
APPLICATIONS LLC D/B/A 
VUZIQ, AND D/B/A MY 
MIXTAPEZ, JUAN CARLOS 
DUEÑAS, RICKY DUEÑAS, AND 
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APPLICATIONS LLC D/B/A VUZIQ, AND D/B/A MY MIXTAPEZ, JUAN 

CARLOS DUEÑAS, RICKY DUEÑAS, AND DANNY DUEÑAS 
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THE FOLLOWING TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF USE ("Terms") govern the use of the website – 
mymixtapez.com ("Website") – and the My Mixtapez Music & Mixtapez mobile application currently
available on Apple iTunes, Google Play and provided by Microsoft on its store ("Mobile Application")
brought to you ("you" or "your") by Duenas Mobile Applications LLC d/b/a VUZIQ ("My Mixtapez" or "
we" or " us" or " our"), and any content, material, features or functionality made available by or
through this Website and Mobile Application, including any subdomains thereof. The Website and
Mobile Application is made available to you by Duenas Mobile Applications LLC, or one of its
subsidiaries, each having adopted the following Terms. My Mixtapez provides downloadable software
for the purpose of streaming and downloading music via an application for mobile and wireless
devices; and downloadable software in the nature of a mobile application for streaming and
downloading music mixtapes ("My Mixtapez Service" or "Service"). *

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING TERMS CAREFULLY BEFORE USING THE WEBISTE AND MOBILE
APPLICATION. BY USING, REGISTERING, AND/OR OTHERWISE ACCESSING THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE
APPLICATION, YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ, UNDERSTOOD, AND AGREED TO BE
BOUND BY THE FOLLOWING TERMS. IF AT ANY TIME YOU DO NOT AGREE WITH THESE TERMS, YOU
MUST IMMEDIATELY REFRAIN FROM USING AND/OR OTHERWISE ACCESSING THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE
APPLICATION.

1.  Acceptance of Terms.
The Website and Mobile Application is owned, operated, and provided by Duenas Mobile Applications,
LLC, for the purpose of providing you with the My Mixtapez Service. By using or otherwise accessing
the Website or Mobile Application, or clicking to accept or agree to these Terms as provided by the
Website and/or Mobile Application,  you explicitly agree to be bound by these Terms and the
provisions contained herein. If you do not agree to these Terms, then you may not access the Website
or Mobile Application, or use the My Mixtapez Service.

2.  Modi�cation of Terms.
From time to time, My Mixtapez may issue additional terms, rules or conditions, or modify these Terms
as a prerequisite for you to use, or continue using, the My Mixtapez Service. This may be done, without
speci�c notice to you, by posting said changes on the Website and/or Mobile Application. You may be
subsequently noti�ed of any such changes, and it will be your sole responsibility to review and become
familiar with any and all changes. At all times relevant, the most current version of these Terms will be
posted on the Website and/or Mobile Application. By continuing to access the Website, Mobile
Application, or My Mixtapez Service, you agree to be bound by any and all additional terms, rules
and/or conditions, or any modi�cation to these Terms.

3.  Our Intellectual Property Rights.
All rights, title and interest in and to the Website and Mobile Application, including all material, content,
organization, graphics, compilation, look, design, and other matters related to the Website or Mobile
Application are owned by My Mixtapez, and are protected under applicable copyright, trademark,
patent and other proprietary rights, both at common law and through any registrations obtained
related to same. The copying, redistribution, modi�cation, selling, use, publication, exploitation
(commercial or otherwise), or creation of derivative works based on the Website, Mobile Application, or
My Mixtapez Service, in whole or part, is strictly prohibited, except as provided by Section 7 herein. You
acknowledge and agree that your use of the Website, Mobile Application, or My Mixtapez Service does
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not grant you any ownership to any material, content, or data that you may access by or through your
use of the Website, Mobile Application, or My Mixtapez Service.

4.  Copyrights.
Much of the artwork displayed on or through the Website or Mobile Application is copyrighted by My
Mixtapez or Duenas Mobile Applications LLC and the sound recordings provided through the Website
or Mobile Application is copyrighted by My Mixtapez, Duenas Mobile Applications LLC or other third
parties ("Copyrights"). Such Copyrights may not be used in connection with products and/or services
that are not related to, associated with, or sponsored by My Mixtapez or their applicable rights holders
in a manner that is likely to infringe on the Copyrights. You acknowledge and agree that nothing
contained herein these Terms, or on the Website or Mobile Application, shall be construed as granting
you, by implication or otherwise, any license or right to use any Copyrights contained within the
Website or Mobile Application without our, or the applicable rights holder’s, prior written consent. Any
misuse of the Copyrights contained within the Website or Mobile Application, or by way of the My
Mixtapez Service, is strictly prohibited. Further, you hereby understand and acknowledge that Duenas
Mobile Applications owns a federally registered copyright with a Registration No. VA0001954847 dated
February 2, 2015. The copyright attached to the federal registration is for the Mobile Application
MyMixtapez. You may not use such copyright without the express permission of Duenas Mobile
Applications LLC.

5.  Patents.
Duenas Mobile Applications LLC has �led for patent protection over certain elements of its Mobile
Application. The patent protection is currently listed as "patent pending" with the U.S. Patent and
Trademark O�ce. You understand and acknowledge that Duenas Mobile Applications LLC has a
protectable right in such patent and that it is your obligation to ensure that you do not violate the
patent. Duenas Mobile Applications LLC reserves the right to take any action necessary to ensure that
you do not infringe on its patents and you understand that Duenas Mobile Applications LLC has a right
to be made whole for any damages caused based on infringement.

6.  Trademarks.
The trademarks, logos, service marks and trade names ("Trademarks") displayed on or through the
Website and Mobile Application are either common law trademarks or registered trademarks of My
Mixtapez, Duenas Mobile Applications, LLC, or other third parties. Additionally, other product,
company, and/or musical artist’s names mentioned on the Website or Mobile Application may be
trademarks of their respective owners. Such Trademarks may not be used in connection with products
and/or services that are not related to, associated with, or sponsored by My Mixtapez or their
applicable rights holders in a manner that is likely to cause consumer confusion, or that discredits,
tarnishes or disparages My Mixtapez or the applicable rights holders. You acknowledge and agree that
nothing contained herein these Terms, or on the Website or Mobile Application, shall be construed as
granting you, by implication or otherwise, any license or right to use any Trademarks displayed on the
Website or Mobile Application without our, or the applicable rights holder’s, prior written consent. Any
misuse of the Trademarks displayed on or through the Website or Mobile Application, or by way of the
My Mixtapez Service, is strictly prohibited. You are further directed to and hereby understand and
acknowledge the existence of several �led trademark applications and obtained registrations with the
U.S. Patent and Trademark O�ce. The following trademark Serial Nos. are owned by Duenas Mobile
Applications LLC and you hereby have no right to infringe or dilute upon any of the following: Serial
Nos. 86250676, 86251260, 86397717, 86478711, 86520121 and 86597763.

7.  Scope of License.
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My Mixtapez grants you a limited, non-exclusive license to access the Website and use the My Mixtapez
Service on your computer, tablet, smartphone or other device for your personal and non-commercial
use only. No part of any material, content, or data may be reproduced in any form or incorporated into
any information retrieval system, electronic or mechanical, other than for your personal use (but not
for resale or redistribution). You acknowledge and agree that this license does not grant you the ability
to reproduce, distribute, assign, sublicense, sell, prepare derivative works, or conduct any other such
activity related to the content, material and data found on or through the Website, Mobile Application,
or My Mixtapez Service, except as expressly provided by these Terms.

8.  Prohibited Use.
As a condition of your use of the Website, Mobile Application, and My Mixtapez Service, you agree not
to use the Website, Mobile Application and/or My Mixtapez Service in a manner that is unlawful,
prohibited by these Terms, or for any other purpose not reasonably intended or contemplated by My
Mixtapez. Your use of the Website, Mobile Application and My Mixtapez Service in a manner not
consistent with these Terms grants My Mixtapez, in its sole discretion, the right to limit or disable your
access to the My Mixtapez Service for any length of time, to be determined solely by My Mixtapez. The
following activities are expressly prohibited:

Submitting false, misleading, or inaccurate personal information as it pertains to you and your My
Mixtapez account;
Abusing, or using for your own bene�t (commercial or otherwise) others’ personal information that
you may come across as a result of using the My Mixtapez Service;
Distributing software viruses, worms, spyware, adware, bugs, computer codes, or anything else
that is designed to, or may, interfere with the proper function of any software, hardware or
equipment found or maintained by the Website or Mobile Application, or that relates to the My
Mixtapez Service;
Placing a disproportionate load on the Website or Mobile Application (as determined within My
Mixtapez sole discretion) with the purpose of denying use and/or access to other users;
Taking any action that infringes or violates My Mixtapez’ or another user’s rights (including, but no
limited to, proprietary and intellectual property rights), violates the law, or breaches any legal duty
you may have toward My Mixtapez or another person;
Reproducing, duplicating, copying, selling, distributing, trading, or exploiting any portion of the
Website or Mobile Application, use of the Website or Mobile Application, access to the Website or
Mobile Application, or My Mixtapez Service for any purpose not expressly permitted by these
Terms;
Removing, circumventing, disabling, damaging or otherwise interfering with any features (security
related or otherwise) implemented by the Website or Mobile Application;
Attempting to gain unauthorized access to the My Mixtapez Service, other users’ My Mixtapez
membership accounts, or other parts of the Website or Mobile Application through hacking,
password mining, or any other means meant to interfere with the proper working of the Website,
Mobile Application or My Mixtapez Service;
Using My Mixtapez trademarks, copyrights, patents, graphics, or logos without My Mixtapez’
express written consent;
Reverse engineering, disassembling, or otherwise attempting to discover the source code of the
Website, Mobile Application or any part thereof;
Modifying, adapting, translating or creating derivative works based upon the Website, Mobile
Application or any part thereof, except, and only to the extent, as expressly permitted by
applicable law; and
Holding yourself out to be in any way a�liated with MyMixtapez as an employee, independent
contractor, agent, attorney, accountant or otherwise, without the express consent of Duenas
Mobile Applications LLC.

9.  Use of Your Information.
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My Mixtapez reserves the right, and you grant us the authority, to use and assign all information
regarding your use of the Website, Mobile Application and/or My Mixtapez Service provided by you in
any manner consistent with our Privacy Policy. This right may extend to the use of your name, user
name, nickname and/or likeness for the purpose of promoting, marketing and/or advertising our
product, services and/or brand.

10.  Third Party Websites and Services.
From time to time, My Mixtapez may provide links to third party websites and/or advertisements, and
third party websites may link to My Mixtapez ("Third Party Websites") for the purpose of providing you
services and/or products that may be bene�cial to you. My Mixtapez is not responsible, nor does it
have any control, over the information, content, accuracy, products, services, advertising, or other
materials that may or may not be provided by or through Third Party Websites, even if said Third Party
Website is run or owned by one of our a�liates. Third Party Websites are not investigated, monitored
or checked for accuracy or completeness by us. Linking to, or being from linked from, Third Party
Websites does not constitute, nor should it be construed to imply, My Mixtapez’ approval or
endorsement of the Third Party Website. My Mixtapez cannot and will not guarantee the standards of
any Third Party Website to which links are provided, nor shall My Mixtapez be held responsible for the
materials and content on such websites, or any subsequent links. Any reliance on or use of the
materials or content found on or by way of Third Party Websites is done solely at your own risk, and
you assume all responsibilities and consequences resulting from such reliance.

11.  Right to Monitor
My Mixtapez reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to monitor, review, edit, delete or modify all
materials, content (including but not limited to sound recordings) and comments posted to the
Website, Mobile Application, or through the My Mixtapez Service. However, we are not responsible for
any such materials posted by users. My Mixtapez reserves the right, at all times, to disclose any
information as is necessary to satisfy any law, regulation or government order, or to edit, refuse to
post, or remove any information or materials, in whole or in part, that My Mixtapez �nds, in its sole
discretion, to be objectionable or a violation of these Terms, our policies, or applicable law. We also
reserve the right to impose limitations on your use of the My Mixtapez Service without notice or
penalty if we believe that, in our sole discretion, you are in breach of any of the guidelines set forth in
these Terms, our policies, or applicable law.

12.  Indemni�cation.
You agree to release, indemnify, defend and hold harmless My Mixtapez and its parents, subsidiaries,
lawyers, a�liates, agents, employees, independent contractors, directors, managers, members and
agencies, as well as the o�cers, directors, employees, shareholders and representatives of any of the
foregoing entities, from and against any and all losses, liabilities, expenses, damages, costs (including
reasonable attorney’s fees and costs), claims, or actions of any kind whatsoever that may arise out of
or result from your use of the Website, Mobile Application, or My Mixtapez Service, your violation of
these Terms, and any of your acts or omissions that may implicate a violation or infringement of a third
party’s proprietary or intellectual property rights. My Mixtapez reserves the right, at its own expense, to
assume exclusive defense and control of any matter otherwise subject to indemni�cation by you. In
such case, you agree to fully cooperate with My Mixtapez in the defense of such matter.

13.  Premium Membership; Payment Transactions.
My Mixtapez o�ers a variation of the My Mixtapez Service free of charge for all users. However, you
have the option to purchase a premium membership ("Premium Membership") for use pursuant to
the My Mixtapez Service. Premium Membership allows you the ability to use the My Mixtapez Service
without advertisements, and may include other bene�ts that we have the right to amend from time-to-
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time without changing these Terms. Premium Membership also gives you the opportunity to try new
features and receive exclusive o�ers from the My Mixtapez store. By purchasing the Premium
Membership (or anything else directly from My Mixtapez) you warrant and represent the following:

1. any and all credit card information submitted by you is complete, true and accurate as it relates to
you;

2. any and all charges incurred by you will be honored by your credit card company; and
3. any and all charges incurred by you will be paid by you at the posted price, including any

applicable taxes.

14.  Digital Millennium Copyright Act.
My Mixtapez utilizes best e�orts to comply with the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA). As a
result, we reserve the right remove any material that is or may be infringing upon any third party’s
rights at any time, without prior notice to you. My Mixtapez also reserves the right to terminate your
access to the My Mixtapez Service, at any time without prior notice to you, for repeat violations. By
using and/or uploading any material to the Website or Mobile Application for use pursuant to the My
Mixtapez Service, you warrant and represent that any and all intellectual property rights of a third
party, including, but not limited to, any such rights pursuant to registered or unregistered copyrights,
trademarks, patents, trade secrets, or any other proprietary information, whether it be at common law,
by statute or under the terms of DMCA, as amended. Additionally, by uploading, publishing, modifying,
or displaying material to the Website or Mobile Application for use pursuant to the My Mixtapez
Service, you automatically grant, and further warrant and represent that you have the right and/or
necessary licenses, to grant, My Mixtapez an irrevocable, worldwide, perpetual, non-exclusive,
transferable, fully sub-licensable license to copy, distribute, reproduce, publicly perform or display,
reformat, transmit, translate, create derivative works of or incorporate into other works your material
for any purpose on or in connection with the Website, Mobile Application, or My Mixtapez Service, or
the promotion thereof. You also grant My Mixtapez the non-exclusive right to access your material
through the Website or Mobile Application, and to use, reproduce, distribute, perform or display your
material as permitted through the functionality of the Website and Mobile Application, pursuant to
these Terms. If you believe that your work has been copied on or through the Website, Mobile
Application, or My Mixtapez Service in a way that may constitute copyright infringement, you may
submit a noti�cation to our designated Copyright Agent containing the following information:

Your name and email address;
A description of the copyrighted work alleged to have been infringed;
A description of where the alleged infringing material is located on the Website or Mobile
Application;
A statement expressing your good faith belief that the alleged use in question is not authorized by
the rightful copyright owner, its authorized agent, or law;
A signature (electronic or physical) of the person authorized to act on behalf of the rightful owner
of the copyrighted material; and
A statement, made under penalty of perjury, that the above information listed in your DMCA
noti�cation is truthful and accurate, and that you are the rightful owner or are authorized to act on
behalf of the rightful copyright owner.

Pursuant to the DMCA, My Mixtapez may reinstate material if we receive a counter noti�cation from
the provider of the removed material. If you are the provider of the removed material, you may submit
a counter noti�cation that must include the following:

The URL relating to the material that My Mixtapez removed or disabled access to;
Your name, address, telephone number and email address;
A statement saying that you consent to the jurisdiction of the Federal District Court for the judicial
district in which your address is located (or Miami-Dade County, Florida if your address is outside
of the United States), and that you will accept service of process from the person or authorized
agent who provided the initial DMCA noti�cation to take down the material;
A statement expressing your good faith belief, under penalty of perjury, that the material removed
or disabled was the result of a mistake or misidenti�cation of the material to be removed or
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disabled, or that the exact material identi�ed by the person or authorized agent who sent the
initial DMCA noti�cation has been removed or disabled at the identi�ed URL and will be no longer
shown; and
A signature (electronic or physical) by you or your authorized agent/representative.

FOR DMCA NOTIFICATIONS AND COUNTER NOTIFICATIONS ONLY:

Copyright Agent:

The Baldonado Group, P.C.
515 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10022

Non-copyright inquiries will not be addressed by the Copyright Agent.

Please note that you, and you alone, will be liable for any damages (including attorney’s fees and costs)
if you materially represent that your material and/or activity is not infringing upon the copyrights of
others. If you are not sure if your material and/or activity constitute copyright infringement, please
consult an attorney.

15.  Disclaimer of Warranties.
YOUR USE OF THE WEBSITE, MOBILE APPLICATION, AND MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE IS SOLELY AT YOUR
OWN RISK. THE WEBSITE AND MOBILE APPLICATION, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ALL MY
MIXTAPEZ SERVICES, CONTENT, FEATURES, MATERIALS AND FUNCTIONS PROVIDED BY OR THROUGH
THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION, IS PROVIDED "AS IS," WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND,
EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY FOR INFORMATION,
DATA, UPTIME OR UNINTERRUPTED ACCESS; ANY WARRANTIES CONCERNING THE AVAILABILITY,
ACCURACY, DISPLAYABILITY, COMPLETENESS, USEFULNESS, OR CONTENT OF INFORMATION; AND ANY
WARRANTIES OF TITLE, NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTCULAR
PURPOSE. WE HEREBY DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES, EXPRESS AND IMPLIED. WE DO
NOT WARRANT THAT THE WEBSITE, MOBILE APPLICATION OR MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE, OR ANY
CONTENT, FUNCTIONS OR MATERIALS PROVIDED BY OR THROUGH THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE
APPLICATION WILL BE TIMELY, SECURE, UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE, OR THAT DEFECT WILL BE
CORRECTED. WE MAKE NO WARRANTY THAT THE WEBSITE, MOBILE APPLICATION OR THE PROVIDED
SERVICES WILL MEET YOUR EXPRESS OR IMPLIED REQUIREMENTS. NO INFORMATION, WHETHER ORAL
OR WRITTEN, OBTAINED BY YOU FROM US OR THROUGH THE WEBSITE SHALL CREATE ANY WARRANTY
NOT EXPRESSLY MADE HEREIN. WE AND OUR AFFILIATES ASSUME NO RESPONSIBILITY, AND SHALL
NOT BE HELD LIABLE, FOR ANY DAMAGES TO, OR VIRUSES THAT MAY INFECT, YOUR EQUIPMENT ON
ACCOUNT OF YOUR ACCESS, USE, OR BROWSING OF THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION, OR ANY
DOWNLOADING OF MATERIALS, CONTENT, TEXT, IMAGES, VIDEO OR AUDIO CONTENT FROM THE
WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION. IF YOUR ARE DISSATISFIED WITH THE WEBSITE, MOBILE
APPLICATION AND/OR MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE, YOUR SOLE REMEDY IS TO DISCONTINUE USING THE
WEBSITE, MOBILE APPLICATION AND/OR MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE.

WE ATTEMPT TO ENSURE THAT THE INFORMATION POSTED ON THE WEBSITE AND MOBILE
APPLICATION IS CORRECT AND CURRENT. WE RESERVE ALL RIGHT TO CHANGE OR EDIT ANY OF THE
INFORMATION PROVIDED ON THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION AT ANY TIME AND WITHOUT
PRIOR NOTICE TO YOU. WE NEITHER ENDORSE NOR ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ACCURACY OR
RELIABILITY OF ANY OPINION, ADVICE OR STATEMENT ON THE WEBSITE, NOR FOR ANY OFFENSIVE,
DEFAMATORY, VULGAR, UNLAWFUL OR INFRINGING POSTING MADE THEREON BY ANY PERSON OTHER
THAN OUR AUTHORIZED EMPLOYEE SPOKESPERSONS WHILE ACTING IN THEIR OFFCIAL CAPACITIES. IT
IS YOUR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY TO EVALUATE THE TRUTHFULNESS, COMPLETENESS AND/OR
USEFULNESS OF ANY MATERIAL, OPINION, ADVICE OR OTHER INFORMATION MADE AVAILABLE BY OR
THROUGH THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION.

WITHOUT LIMITING THE ABOVE, WE AND OUR AFFILIATES, SUPPLIERS AND LICENSORS MAKE NO
WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS RELATING TO ANY PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ORDERED OR
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PROVIDED VIA THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION. WE HEREBY DISCLAIM, AND YOU HEREBY
WAIVE, ANY AND ALL WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS MADE IN PRODUCT OR SERVICES
LITERATURE, FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS (FAQs), DOCUMENTS AND OTHERWISE ON THE WEBSITE
OR MOBILE APPLICATION, OR IN CORRESPONDENCE WITH US OR OUR AGENTS. ANY PRODUCTS OR
SERVICES ORDERED OR PROVIDED VIA THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION ARE PROVIDED "AS IS,"
EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT, IF AT ALL, OTHERWISE SET FORTH IN A LICENSE OR SALE AGREEMENT
SEPERATELY ENTERED INTO BY WRITING BETWEEN YOU AND US OR OUR LICENSOR AND SUPPLIER.

16.  Limitation of Liability.
YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMISSIBLE BY LAW, IN NO EVENT
SHALL MY MIXTAPEZ, DUENAS MOBILE APPLICATIONS, LLC, ITS DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, PARTNERS,
SUPPLIERS, OR LICENSORS ("PROTECTED ENTITIES") BE HELD LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT,
INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES ARISING FROM, OR
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY RELATING TO, THE USE OF, OR THE INABILITY TO USE, THE WEBSITE, THE
MOBILE APPLICATION, THE MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE, THE MATERIALS, CONTENT, FEATURES, AND
FUNCTIONS RELATED THERETO, YOUR SUPPLIANCE OF INFORMATION VIA THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE
APPLICATION, OR LOST BUSINESS OR SALES, EVEN IF SUCH PROTECTED ENTITY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF
THE POSSIBLITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. IN NO EVENT SHALL THE PROTECTED ENTITIES BE LIABLE FOR OR
IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CONTENT POSTED, TRANSMITTED, EXCHANGED OR RECEIVED BY OR ON
BEHALF OF ANY USER OR OTHER PERSON ON OR THROUGH THE WEBSITE OR MOBILE APPLICATION.
IN NO EVENT SHALL THE TOTAL AGGREGATE OF LIABILITY OF THE PROTECTED ENTITIES FOR ALL
DAMAGES, LOSSES, AND CAUSES OF ACTION ARISING FROM THESE TERMS, OR YOUR USE OF THE
WEBSITE, MOBILE APPLICATION OR MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE EXCEED, IN THE AGGREGATE, THE AMOUNT,
IF ANY, CONTRIBUTED BY YOU TO US FOR THE PURPOSE OF UTILZING THE MY MIXTAPEZ SERVICE

17.  Mobile Application License.
My Mixtapez grants you a limited, non-exclusive, non-transferable license to download and install a
copy of the Mobile Application on a single device (i.e. tablet, smartphone, etc.) that you exclusively
control, and to use such copy of the Mobile Application solely for your own personal use. My Mixtapez
reserves all rights in and to the Mobile Application not expressly granted to you under these Terms.

You agree to promptly download and install any new version of the Mobile Application that we may
make available through the iTunes App Store, Google Play Store, or Windows Store, as applicable. New
versions of the Mobile Application may contain updated Terms, security �xes and service
improvements, which we may not disclose to you prior to downloading. As a result, failure to update
your version of Mobile Application as prompted may expose you to increased security risks or service
malfunctions. By downloading the Mobile Application, you agree to be subject to the terms and
provisions that may put in place by Apple, Google, and/or Windows in order for you to download and
continue to use the Mobile Application.

18.  Dispute Resolution.
In the event legal action must take place, these Terms shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Florida, without respect to any con�ict of law principles that may arise. You hereby agree to be subject
to the personal and exclusive jurisdiction of and venue in the federal and state courts located within
Miami-Dade County. You further agree to accept service of process by mail, and hereby waive any and
all jurisdictional and venue defenses otherwise available.

Failure to exercise or enforce any right or provision contained within these Terms shall not constitute a
waiver of such right or provision. If any provision of these Terms is found by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, the parties nevertheless agree that the court should give maximum e�ect to
the parties’ intentions as re�ected in such provision, and that the other provisions of these Terms shall
remain in full force and e�ect.
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info@mymixtapez.com

+1 (786)  438-2107

DMCA PRIVACY POLICY TERMS OF SERVICE FOUNDERS © My Mixtapez 2019

You agree that, regardless of any statute or law to the contrary, any claim or cause of action arising out
of or relating to your use of the Website, Mobile Application or My Mixtapez Service, or any other
content, material, or information pertaining thereto, or these Terms must be �led within one (1) year
after such claim or cause of action arose, or be forever barred.

19.  Miscellaneous.
These Terms are personal to you, and may not be assigned, transferred, or sublicensed without the
express written consent My Mixtapez. Any password or right given to you for the purpose of using the
My Mixtapez Service is not transferable. My Mixtapez may assign, transfer, or delegate of its
obligations contained herein, without your consent.

The Section titles contained in these Terms are for convenience purposes only, and have no legal or
contractual e�ect.

These Terms do not, nor should it be construed to create, a joint venture, partnership, employee or
agency relationship between you and My Mixtapez. Your submission of material or content does not
create an implied con�dential, �duciary, contractual, or other relationship between you and My
Mixtapez, other than that expressly stated within these Terms.

These Terms, and any additional terms, rules and conditions that My Mixtapez may post on the
Website or Mobile Application constitute the entirety of the agreement between ou and My Mixtapez
with respect to the Website, Mobile Application, My Mixtapez Service, and any other content, material,
or information related thereto, and supersedes all prior agreements between you and My Mixtapez,
whether made orally or in writing.

* The Service is memorialized and incorporated in and by federally recognized registered trademarks
owned by Duenas Mobile Applications LLC (See Registration Nos. 4648593 ("My Mixtapez"); 4648615 (a
design mark for "My Mixtapez"); and 4731673 (a design mark for "My Mixtapez")). My Mixtapez has
additional trademark applications with the U.S. Patent and Trademark O�ce that are currently pending
as of the date of the latest update of these Terms.
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